

Keeping them at bay: Practices of municipal exclusion

By Ian Skelton

Keeping them at bay: Practices of municipal exclusion

By Ian Skelton, PhD, MCIP, University of Manitoba

ISBN 978-1-77125-025-2

SEPTEMBER 2012

This report is available free of charge from the CCPA website at **www.policyalternatives.ca**. Printed copies may be ordered through the Manitoba Office for a \$10 fee.

Please make a donation... Help us continue to offer our publications free online.

We make most of our publications available free on our website. Making a donation or taking out a membership will help us continue to provide people with access to our ideas and research free of charge. You can make a donation or become a member on-line at www.policyalternatives.ca. Or you can contact the Manitoba office at 927-3200 for more information. Suggested donation for this publication: \$10 or what you can afford.



309-323 Portage Avenue, Winnipeg, MB R3B 2C1 TEL 204-927-3200 FAX 204-927-3201 EMAIL ccpamb@policyalternatives.ca

CAW \$ 567

About the Author

Ian Skelton is a professor in the Department of City Planning at the University of Manitoba. He is a research associate with CCPA-Mb and a member of the Canadian Institute of Planners, and his research is intended to promote social equity in housing and service provision. Support for this paper from New Directions, Winnipeg, is gratefully acknowledged.

Table of Contents

- 1 Introduction: Zoning as a tool in municipal planning
- 4 Exclusionary zoning

Early action against exclusionary zoning in the USA

Attacking exclusionary zoning through state legislatures

Initiatives through the USA judiciary

Federal legislation in the USA

Exclusionary zoning in Canada

Summary

10 Community care for people with disabilities

Expansion and concentration of community-based care facilities for people with disabilities

Local responses to community-based care facilities

Application of and limits to municipal powers

Current situation

- 21 Conclusion
- 23 Sources

Introduction: Zoning as a tool in municipal planning

Rulings have found that Winnipeg, Manitoba, and Kitchener, Ontario, have attempted to use their powers to exclude sections of the population from particular areas. As this paper shows, these instances are not exceptional, and in fact there is a long and ongoing history of such uses of municipal powers, with significant impacts for people and neighbourhoods.

Municipalities are empowered under provincial and territorial legislation to control land development throughout their jurisdictions in accordance with their official plans. One of their powers, zoning, refers to the identification of land uses and the specification of building characteristics. This is widely recognized as one of the principal means that municipalities use to control and manage land development: it is a tool engaged in their attempts not only to ensure that land is used in ways they deem most desirable, but also to ensure that uses considered incompatible are sufficiently spaced that they are not in conflict. Zoning typically details types of land use, such as residential, industrial, commercial, recreational and so on; and also such design elements as lot widths, setbacks, building heights and floor area ratios. As the central tool employed by municipalities in the control of land

it is the main focus of this review, though other tools such as development control, subdivision control and building codes are also part of the apparatus of land control.

It is generally accepted that the first zoning provisions in North America were adopted in New York City in 1916, representing, on one side, a response to concerns over building heights and incompatible land uses in Manhattan (NYC, 2011); and on another, increasing standardization and control over urban development and other areas of life (Fischler, 1998). It is generally recognized that the legitimacy of zoning and its widespread adoption in the USA rest on a case decided by the USA Supreme Court in 1926: Village of Euclid v. Ambler Realty. The Court found that the zoning measures the municipality had brought in to prevent industrial development did not usurp the rights of property provided to individuals by the Constitution (Hodge & Gordon, 2008). The Advisory Committee on City Planning and Zoning, under USA President Coolidge, drafted the Standard State Zoning Enabling Act also in 1926; and while it was not passed into legislation, the Committee issued it as a model for state legislatures to use in delineating local government planning (Artibise, 2011).

In Canada the legitimacy of zoning was granted under the British North America Act as municipalities, through powers provided to provincial and territorial governments, were given the authority to control land (Longo, 2010). The literature suggests an important constitutional difference between the countries: in the USA state involvement in land control more strongly raises issues of individual property rights and more readily attracts legal challenges.

Zoning was first used in this country in the early 1920s: the Municipality of Point Grey, British Columbia, employed it to restrict development to residential use, and Kitchener, Ontario, used it to designate and separate five different land uses. Predating zoning in Canada were provisions to separate noxious industries from residential areas and also restrictive covenants preventing the sale of property for designated purposes. The case for minimizing negative externalities among land uses, for example, conflicts between industrial and residential facilities, could be based on sound planning principles aiming to protect the health and wellbeing of the population and to promote orderly development (Leung, 2003). However, it additionally can be argued that the measures were also used in ways that reflected and reinforced relations between social groups. Walker (1997) shows that restrictive covenants were targeted at different categories of people to prevent them from settling in designated areas: this affected blacks in Nova Scotia; Asians in British Columbia (see also Weaver, 1979); and both these groups as well as Jews in Ontario. The use of these covenants was eventually made illegal by Provincial legislation, such as the 1944 Racial Discrimination Act in Ontario and the 1950 Law of Property Act in Manitoba.

Concerning the USA, Silver's (1997) review shows that it is recognized that the early uses of zoning had a multi-faceted agenda: one side focused on physical aspects of the control of land and development; another on progressive social reform; and a third on exclusion of sections

of the community deemed undesirable. Silver clarifies the latter:

The two interest groups that were regarded as the undesirables were immigrants and African Americans. (Silver, 1997, p.24)

Zoning in the USA south specified black and white areas but this was declared unconstitutional as early as 1917. Applications of restrictive covenants continued, however, into the 1960s even though they had been outlawed in 1948 (Nelson et al., 2004).

This early history suggests that urban development is closely linked with social relations: relationships among social groups find expression in the urban fabric (Harvey, 1973; Lefebvre, 1968) and in turn, urban development can reinforce or alter social relations (Hayden, 1980). While zoning formally controls land uses, it effectively also controls people who may or may not use the land and consequently their ways of life. Different authors note this process. Valverde proposes that "legal tools designed to govern things, uses, and activities usually end up governing certain groups of persons" (2005, p.37). As Nelson et al. explain, "the agenda of traditional land-use controls [is] to segregate land uses and, by implication, people" (2004, pp.423-424). Perin argues that "land use classifications, definitions and standards alongside all their concrete tasks - name cultural and social categories and define what are believed to be the correct relationships between them" (cited in Ritzdorf, 1985a, p.177). These authorities speak from the widely held position that municipal zoning is centrally implicated in the collective processes that alter the interface between built form and social relations.

In some instances, our historical vantage point enables the identification of such relationships that were not apparent at the time. For example, Laws (1993) argues that elderly people were effectively barred from living in the early North American suburbs since those areas were constructed exclusively for nuclear families, and

that this had a mutually reinforcing influence on ageist attitudes. Hindsight shows that in some instances an awareness of the role of planning in mediating physical and social relationships should have been more carefully brought into planning analysis, and an important example of this can be found in public housing siting work in Yonkers, New York, following World War II. As explained by Feld, planners had adopted criteria such as "political feasibility" (Feld, 1986, p.387) in locating new projects, which meant that public housing would be constructed in predominantly black areas. This, in turn, would add to racial segregation in schools, which, in a District Court ruling in 1985, was found to contravene civil rights legislation.

This report is a review of peer-reviewed literature¹ addressing zoning and other exclusionary measures used by municipalities. It examines scholarly works and analyses showing that municipalities, through their legal authority to zone their territories, have included or excluded certain groups of people, whether intentionally or otherwise. The report is developed in three sections. First, it reviews literature dealing with zoning measures that have set elevated expectations for housing in designated areas of municipalities, a practice commonly known as exclusionary zoning. Second, it reviews literature that addresses controls on facilities that provide residential and other services to people with disabilities. These sections, and particularly the first one, draw extensively on studies from the USA, reflecting the availability of published material. In many instances the experiences from the USA can be seen to apply to Canadian contexts, and the text attempts to draw out exceptions, particularly in relation to race.

The third and final section of the report is a brief summary drawing together the main themes of these two sections and commenting on their consequences for contemporary planning in Canada. The report demonstrates that while zoning is often thought of as an objective tool derived from technical principles and impartially applied, its uses can in many instances be seen to have a central role in mediating relations among social groups. More specifically, zoning has been an important component of processes of ghettoization of sections of the population identified as undesirable through certain characteristics such as race and ability.

Two limitations to this report should be mentioned. First, as a literature review, it does not bring in some forms of material, such as original case studies, that could inform the analysis. Second, due to time constraints the report focuses on the two thematic areas mentioned, thereby omitting a number of further instances of exclusions of people through the application of municipal powers. The twin focus enables the review of two, well-developed sets of literature, though it is acknowledged that restrictions on sex trade workers (Edelman, 2011; O'Connell, 1988), on people convicted of sex offences (Tewksbury, 2011), on people experiencing homelessness (Wynne-Edwards, 2003) and on places of worship (Germain & Gagnon, 2003), for example, are among the issues that are beyond the scope of the report.

¹ In peer review, material is submitted anonymously to knowledgeable critics, and comments are provided anonymously to authors along with an editor's decision about acceptance or rejection, and requirements for revisions. Academic communities generally regard peer review as a useful guarantor of quality.

Exclusionary zoning

Zoning is the "planning tool that deals with the use of land and the physical form of development on individual parcels of privately owned land" (Hodge & Gordon, 2008, p.100). In the sense that it permits particular activities and buildings in particular places, zoning is necessarily exclusionary, because other uses are prohibited (Clingermayer, 2004). However, exclusionary zoning is the name given to various zoning practices that set particularly high standards for what is permitted in residential areas, thereby making them inaccessible for some social groups (Mandelker & Ellis, 1989). It generally relies on the use of measures such as minimum lot sizes, floor areas and setbacks; restrictions on multiple dwellings and manufactured homes; and architectural design specifications, all of which limit the types of buildings permitted in residential zones but also, as the literature suggests, restrict people.

The practice by municipalities of using controls on land use to constrain their social composition is a long-standing one in Canada. Writing about Shaughnessy Heights, Vancouver, over the period since the CPR developed the area as a suburb for the wealthy after World War I, Mitchell observed:

Through various exclusionary tactics of zoning, pricing, marketing and the imposition of informal covenants, the area was established for, and remains controlled by, wealthy Anglo-Canadians. (Mitchell, 2004, p147)

The passage shows a clear role for the municipality through zoning, but also that the municipality's actions take place in a context in which they reinforce and are reinforced by actions of other constituencies and market mechanisms.

In Canada several authors have pointed to experiences, in a number of cities, of municipal controls such as zoning regulations which are operationalized to preserve high land and dwelling values, and to ensure that areas are developed and maintained for affluent groups (Carter and Polevychok, 2006; Conference Board of Canada, 2010; Gunn et al. 2009; Harris, 2004; Harris and Pratt, 1993; Ley, 1993; Marquis, 2010; Moore, 1982; Novac et al., 2002). The studies reveal a broad consensus that exclusionary zoning is prevalent in Canada though there is a serious shortage of studies analyzing the processes through which exclusionary zoning has been established, or the concrete ways in which it works in this country.

Exclusionary zoning has received particular attention in the USA, at least partly due to the influences of race relations on urban development there. Certainly, in considering implications for Canada of USA experiences with exclusionary zoning the differences between the countries, particularly in relation to the ways race is approached, must be kept in mind. Nevertheless the USA literature is well developed with both case studies and multicity analyses, and several principles apply to Canada.

Considering the motives for exclusionary zoning, several reasons have been extensively documented in the USA: fiscal issues, fear of crime and maintenance of "community character" (Danielson, 1976, p.2); preservation of property values (Bogart, 1993); and minimizing externalities among land uses and attracting favourable development (Chakraborty et al. 2010). Some of these reasons might be rationalized in terms of sound planning principles as mentioned above; however, several authors explicitly argue that zoning has been used to restrict black people's access to the suburbs (Chakraborty et al., 2010; Clingermayer, 2004; Danielson, 1976; Krefetz, 1979; Pendell 2000; Rabin, 1989; Ritzdorf, 1997; Rollenston 1987 in Bogart 1993; Silver, 1997).

Although exclusionary zoning in suburbs is generally acknowledged to be a widespread practice today, this does not necessarily mean that underlying racist ideas also predominate. Scheutz (2008) cites studies showing that such land use regulations can result from the influence of "a small number of active participants, even if their goal is contrary to the preferences of the passive majority" (p.558).

These studies suggest that zoning may enable municipalities to exclude racialized populations without resorting to overt expression of exclusionary sentiments (Krefetz, 1979), which might be illegal. They suggest also that zoning as a tool may be used without many members of the excluding communities being actively aware of their resulting exclusions, which attain an ap-

pearance of normalcy as they are enforced through the power of the police. Arguments expressed in terms of social fears and risks may obscure the exclusionary consequences of certain zoning legislations. Thus exclusionary zoning can be seen as an element of a complex of relations, that also govern other elements of contemporary urban life such as mortgage lending, real estate markets and infrastructure development, that maintain the status quo of social relations.

The following parts of this section document the various forms of opposition to municipal exclusionary zoning practices that emerged in civil society, legislatures and the judiciary in the USA. It notes that there are limited measures in place in Canada to counter exclusionary zoning, and concludes by highlighting the persistence of the practices in both countries.

Early action against exclusionary zoning in the USA

By the 1960s, racial segregation of cities in the USA was firmly entrenched, with marginalized, black communities in the city centres surrounded by white communities in the suburbs, many of which used zoning measures as indicated above to exclude racialized populations (Haar, 1997). The social tensions associated with this urban form were among the causes of federal legislative action on fair housing (Connerly, 2006) as access to quality residential environments and growing employment opportunities was racially determined.

While the majority of the population of suburbanites evidently has not taken responsibility for housing and social issues in the inner cities, many have done so. Movements for fair housing did emerge in several suburban municipalities in the US, particularly those with large and racially diverse populations, liberal values and professional planning staff (Danielson, 1976). Impetus for making exceptions to exclusionary zoning could be found even in affluent suburbs, because residents realized that the restrictions

prevented workers from filling jobs there, leading to a shortage of services (Ihlanfeldt, 2004a; 2004b).

Pressure within the suburbs for fair housing had limited effect because of the predominant sentiments in active politics for exclusion at the local level (Haar, 1997). Nevertheless by the 1960s a variety of local groups were actively working for fair housing.2 These encompassed low-cost housing developers, fair housing committees, and civil rights groups; and national groups including trade unions, ecumenical organizations, the civil rights movement and foundations that had taken up the struggle. In 1969 planner Paul Davidoff and Neil Gold, a former staffer at the National Committee against Discrimination in Housing, formed The Suburban Action Institute (SAI). Davidoff was disdainful of exclusionary suburbs, which he argued had not gone to the expense of buying the land needed to protect their interests, but, through their powerful dwellers' influence, had set up legal means of doing so through exclusionary zoning. The SAI worked not only on political action and education but also on the actual development of low-cost housing. For the latter, they were prepared for legal action anticipating that suburbs would refuse to change low-density zoning. Overall, however, the direct provision strategy did not immediately result in the construction of many units as projects were bogged down in the courts, and the effects of local political pressure were muted.

Attacking exclusionary zoning through state legislatures

Attention turned to state legislatures as a vehicle for opening the suburbs. States were believed to be more amenable to taking action against exclusionary zoning because they would be aware of the need and because their political bases were broader than the suburbs. Validation of this point of view materialized in 1969 when

Massachusetts brought in an Anti-Snob Zoning Law (Chapter 40B of the Massachusetts General Laws), under the leadership of new, liberallyminded legislators (Krefetz, 1979). The provisions allowed proponents of projects that included a mix of low- and moderate-cost units to apply for permission where existing zoning did not allow it. The process was expedited, and if the permit were denied then the State could order the municipality to issue it. The initiative in Massachusetts was replicated in Connecticut and Rhode Island, but not broadly throughout the USA as sympathetic state legislatures expected legal cases (Mount Laurel; see below) to set sufficient precedents against exclusionary zoning (Basolo, 2011). However, in other states legislatures responded evasively to exclusionary zoning as municipalities had done because there was a limited political base for opening the suburbs (Haar, 1997) and thus gains against exclusionary zoning were limited.

An early evaluation by Krefetz (1979) found some success under anti-snob provisions in building housing for elderly people but reported that lower cost, family housing was still effectively blocked. Krefetz also observed that the opponents used delaying tactics to destroy the viability of projects, an observation confirmed by Scheutz (2008) who argued that delays were used to undermine the effectiveness of anti-snob laws in the provision of affordable housing. Overall, however, an extensive analysis by Cowan was more favourable. He found:

that adoption of an anti-snob law can result in the creation of significantly more affordable housing in exclusionary municipalities than would have been created if the law had not been enacted. (2006, p.307)

Cowan's study concludes with the recommendation that provisions such as anti-snob laws could fit with other mechanisms like mobility projects

² Much of the historical material here is drawn from Danielson (1976).

that assist inner city residents to move to suburban housing, and projects reducing the inner city concentration of public housing. These mechanisms can contribute to overcoming the effects of exclusionary zoning that create and maintain the privileged composition of suburban communities. Cowan's suggestion, of course, reminds us that progress on a complex social problem will probably require multiple initiatives.

Initiatives through the USA judiciary

Another approach to undermining exclusionary zoning operates through the judiciary, perhaps most famously through the two Mount Laurel cases, Southern Burlington County NAACP v. Township of Mount Laurel, New Jersey, first argued in 1975 and then reaffirmed in 1983 (Payne, 2006). Following an influx of affluent whites, the Township of Mount Laurel brought in exclusionary zoning that priced development out of range for longer-term black residents, and the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People took action against the Township. The implications of the two New Jersey Supreme Court decisions were that municipalities are required to accept a proportion of the regional need for low-cost housing. They marked a major blow to exclusionary zoning by "finding and enunciating a constitutional right to live in the suburbs for all people—rich or poor, black or white" (Haar, 1997, p.635). However, the decisions also allowed municipalities to pay others to accept higher shares in lieu of providing for their own share of low-cost housing, leading to a "market of exclusion" (Bogart, 1993, p.1670) in which the right to exclude people is traded among municipalities.

The Mount Laurel decisions requiring a proportion of low cost housing to be included in municipal plans have been assessed as effective in undermining exclusionary zoning: "it is safe to conclude that the Mount Laurel decisions have enabled thousands of people in New Jersey to live in affordable housing units in attractive suburban communities that otherwise would have

shut them out" (Haar, 1997, p. 642). Furthermore, courts in other states decided in a similar fashion (Cowan, 2006) as the decisions have affected legal thinking throughout the USA (Fischel, 2004). In addition, the decisions may also have been an encouragement for legislative action as several states brought in fair housing acts in their wake (Haar, 1997). Perhaps most important, the decisions dispelled the idea of zoning as a "neutral tool" (Dyble, 2010) and showed that it is centrally implicated in social relations in the urban realm.

Federal legislation in the USA

Prior to the Mount Laurel decisions, and in the wake of the 1964 Civil Rights Act, the national government in the USA adopted the Fair Housing Act. This legislation is Title VIII of the 1968 Civil Rights Act, and it received presidential signature just one week after the assassination of Martin Luther King, Jr. The Act placed housing under civil rights provisions (McCartney & Pratt, 2003) and prohibited discrimination in housing on the basis of race, colour, national origin and religion. By 1988 the Fair Housing Amendments Act also included sex, handicap and family status (Patterson & Silverman, 2011). The provisions extend to all aspects of housing, such as renting, selling, mortgaging and, important for our purposes here, zoning. They have been regarded as essential for the movement towards equality in housing though greater resources are required to develop a more robust enforcement system (Yinger, 1999), and racial segregation persists in the USA (Friedman, 2011). The scale and complexity of annual outstanding needs in relation to supporting fair housing are staggering:

Literally millions of acts of rental, sales, lending, and insurance discrimination, racial and sexual harassment discrimination, and zoning and land use discrimination go virtually unchecked. (Henderson et al., 2008, p.13)

As a result Henderson et al., showing that the social relations mediating discrimination in housing are deeply rooted and inter-related, call for multifaceted initiatives including education and regional approaches as well as those focused on compliance.

Exclusionary zoning in Canada

The widespread recognition of exclusionary zoning practices in Canada was noted above, yet responses through federal or provincial legislatures or the judiciary have not emerged as consistently as they have in the USA. Reasons for this include heightened race relations in the USA coupled with the constitutional difference previously identified. Thus exclusionary zoning in the USA is more highly visible and more actively contested on the grounds of individual property rights than it is in Canada.

The Supreme Court in Canada has ruled that municipalities must zone for land uses and not for users of land. This principle figures prominently in the regulation of facilities providing services to people with disabilities, as shown in the following section of the report. However, leading legal experts argue that elements of exclusionary zoning such as minimum lot sizes, unit size and so on "can severely discriminate against the poor without zoning directly against the users of property" (Makuch et al., 2004, p.200).

Under a short-lived but bipartisan policy in Ontario, the Province required municipalities to bring in policies that would ensure that one-quarter of all new residential units within their areas would be affordable, under Provincial definition (Ontario Ministries of Housing and Municipal Affairs, 1989; Ontario Ministry of Housing, 1991, p.122). If fully implemented the measure would have increased supplies of affordable housing, but because affordable units could be anywhere in a municipality it would not necessarily have affected exclusionary zoning. The approach contrasts with inclusionary zoning more widely used in the USA, which promotes production of affordable housing as a percentage of each development (Gray, 2009).

Current legislation in most provinces and territories does not require municipalities to designate land for affordable housing. The exception is the Municipal Government Act in Nova Scotia, which merely states that municipal plans must "address" affordable housing as well as special needs and rental housing. The Act leaves it to municipalities to define needs and affordability, however, so there is no firm guidance from the Province. Inclusionary zoning is not addressed legislatively in Canada.

Summary

Despite the judicial and legislative frameworks that have been established in the USA, commentators agree that segregation and discrimination through municipal zoning still persist in that country (Lamb & Wilk, 2009; McCartney & Pratt, 2003; Schwartz, 2006). As Patterson & Silverman lament: "40 years after the passage of the Fair Housing Act, discrimination remains a mainstay in suburban housing markets" (2011, p.184).

Recognizing, through an examination of previous experiences, that municipalities tend consistently to apply zoning measures in exclusionary ways, these authors call for sustained intervention by regulators and the voluntary sector, access to resources that will fund these efforts, introduction of inclusionary zoning to replace exclusionary regimes, and concerted planning for fair share housing allocations. They propose that local leadership will need both training and commitment to overcome the structural barriers still in place, within which exclusionary zoning persists. The breadth and complexity of these interventions speak to the depth to which exclusionary zoning reflects exclusionary social tendencies within the USA.

In Canada the main tactic called for against exclusionary zoning is inclusionary zoning, broadly recognized as a potential tool for opening access to affordable housing (Conference Board of Canada 2010). There are currently no provin-

cial requirements for municipalities to dismantle their exclusionary zoning practices, whether through inclusionary zoning or otherwise.

While inclusionary zoning could be a useful measure, the experience of the USA shows that complex interventions are required because exclusionary zoning operates alongside other aspects of urban development in ways consistent with prevailing social relations. Without a con-

certed effort against exclusionary zoning, one of the main influences of municipal zoning on social relations will persist. A recent assessment of zoning states:

It is a very effective way for communities to create legal barriers that support a hierarchy in which some human beings are privileged and some are subordinated because of their class, race, and gender characteristics. (Ritzdorf, 1997, p.56)

Community care for people with disabilities

Planning for community-based care for people with disabilities3 has been a major focus of attention in several countries over the period since the 1960s. On one side, this was driven by the transformation of care from institutional situations to community settings for people living with psychiatric disabilities (Simmons, 1982) and people with mental disabilities (Simmons, 1990). Living in neighbourhoods changed from being thought of as an option for aftercare to being "the preferred site for almost all domiciliary care" (Budson, 1975, p.138). This transformation in the approaches to care in society, known as deinstitutionalization, led to the construction of small scale residential and other service facilities4 to replace large psychiatric hospitals and long-term residential institutions. On another side, community-based care was driven as new needs were recognized and acted on through the development of community-based care options (Cameron & Crewe, 2006; Dear et al., 1997). For example, facilities for people with brain injuries, HIV-AIDS, substance use issues, and other circumstances were built according to what had become the prevailing decentralized, small scale, community norm.

The transformations in addressing the care needs of people with disabilities have many roots. Some authors suggest that the reasons for this conceptual conversion on the part of providers and funders include financial considerations (Dear & Wolch, 1987) and a desire to provide better care and quality of life (Martin & Ashworth, 2010; Rempel, 2007). More broadly, the shift reflected a growing belief in normalization and integration of this varied group of people into the mainstream of society rather than marginalization through segregation (Crawford, 2008a). The deinstitutionalization of people with disabilities enables us to think differently about social relations of ability, as the medical model of illness has given way to a social model of disability

³ The discussion focuses on psychiatric disabilities, often referred to as mental illnesses, and mental disabilities, often referred to as developmental disabilities or learning disabilities.

⁴ Residential and other services are in many instances considered together here because the focus is on municipal actions that exclude people with disabilities accessing any type of service. Some actions specifically target group homes as noted in the text, though in many instances the literature does not specify the service type.

(Raphael, 2009). The medical model views the experience of disability as a deficit that resides within an individual and as something that must be fixed if people are to live meaningful lives (Walker, 2004) through clinical interventions and medication (Humpage, 2007). In contrast, under the contemporary understanding it is the social environment that creates disability. It is the social environment that, drawing on Crooks & Chouinard (2006, 347), governs where people with disabilities belong, where they do not, and on whose terms. We move from thinking of people with disabilities as "recipients of care" to understanding all people to be "individuals possessing independent agency" (Finkler, 2009, p.16).

This section comprises four main parts. The first is a brief look at the growth of communitybased care facilities and their spatial concentration in urban areas. The second part is an overview of local responses to the introduction of care facilities in urban neighbourhoods. These responses have been influential in stimulating the use of municipal powers in controlling the facilities. The third part presents an indication of the various ways that municipal powers have been employed to control community-based care for people with disabilities, and the ways that the courts and upper-level governments have acted to restrain the application of municipal powers. The final part is an assessment of the current situation of the uses of municipal powers in controlling care facilities for people with disabilities. As in the previous section, the sources used are predominantly American because the literature in the USA is well developed; however, several Canadian studies are also brought in.

Expansion and concentration of community-based care facilities for people with disabilities

Growth of the number of community-based care facilities for people with disabilities has been striking. Budson (1975) notes that in 1960 there were seven residences for people living with psy-

chiatric disabilities in the entire USA; and by 2009, while national figures are not available, there were a reported 17,000 facilities providing residential care with community-based housing in the State of California alone (Beall, 2009).

In Canada data are not available to track the period of expansion, and there does not appear to be a source giving the number of non-residential, community-based facilities providing care for people with disabilities. Nevertheless Statistics Canada has monitored the number of residential care facilities since 1984-1985. These are defined as: those residential facilities that are approved by provincial or territorial bodies and have four or more beds for elderly people; people with mental, physical or psychiatric disabilities or substance use issues; children with emotional disturbances; and also people in a number of other circumstances. In 1984-1985 there were 2092 residential facilities beyond those for elderly people. At the end of the 2008-2009 fiscal year there were 4845 such facilities in Canada, of which 2216 were for elderly people (Statistics Canada 2011). Thus there were 2629 other residential facilities in the country, which by and large are the community residences that have drawn attention in planning. Growth in the number of residential facilities was not even over the period, but for our purposes here the data give an indication of the number of facilities nationally in Canada that provide residential care in communities rather than in institutions.

While it was at the upper levels of government that the decisions to deinstitutionalize were taken, the ramifications for people other than those centrally involved — such as service users, caregivers and workers — were felt most immediately at the municipal level. In the years following the initialization of deinstitutionalization, concentrations of community-based care facilities in inner city areas were said to cause considerable concern for urban form and function in several cities, including Toronto (Joseph & Hall, 1985). The concentrations referred to serv-

ice hubs that emerged in the deteriorated inner areas because low land values there made rents affordable for residents and development costs more manageable for providers (Wolch, 1979). A new phenomenon described as 'institutional saturation' was materializing in the city centre as managers avoided areas where rezoning would be required and targeted deteriorating areas.

The concentration of care facilities led some analysts to ask whether community health had successfully replaced institutional care, or "created a new monster, an asylum without walls" (Wolpert et al., 1975, p.25). Wolch (1980) argued that such concentrations had serious consequences. Using the term "service dependents" to refer to people in a range of disabling situations, she suggested that the social and environmental conditions of the deteriorating inner city could further disadvantage them. Their ghettoization could also accelerate urban decline or hamper renewal.

Recognizing the complicity of municipal control over land use in the process of concentration, Wolpert & Wolpert argued with prescience that municipalities should take responsibility for people with disabilities and adopt collaborative methods: "Rather than wait for court rulings to restore⁵ freedom of residential choice for the disabled, local responsibility could be discharged now through a non-coercive method" (1974, p.75).

That was not to be. Using the same political logic applied in exclusionary zoning, as described in the previous section, municipalities attended to the demands of what were, in many cases, active minorities who resisted the siting of care facilities for people with disabilities and attempted to prevent the establishment of the facilities altogether (Applebaum, 1983, p.399) or to direct them away from areas they felt were likely to form effective opposition (Wolpert & Wolpert, 1974).

Characterized by some as "dumping" (Wolpert & Wolpert, 1974) the process of deinstitutionalization, rather than an integrated application of social policy and physical planning tools, left substantial sections of the community of persons with psychiatric or mental disabilities vulnerable to abuse and without options for services. Planning became "a realm of institutional practice where host community hostility is privileged and the right of disabled people to social participation through choice of living environment is curtailed" (Gleeson, 1997, p.123).

Local responses to community-based care facilities

Local pressures have driven the way municipal planning is applied in relation to communitybased care facilities for people with disabilities. In many cases the response has been negative: Tse (1995) cites two early analyses of community-based residential care, one from 1975 claiming that one-half of the plans to locate group homes in residential areas in the USA had been derailed by local opposition, and the other from 1983 saying that three-quarters of group homes in that country had met significant resistance. An indication of the pervasiveness of negative responses is that the term NIMBY, the acronym of Not in My Back Yard, was transferred from environmental planning into human service delivery in the 1980s. As Ross (2007) astutely observes, the transfer places disabled people on par with hazardous land uses.

In practical terms, the growing need for community-based care facilities and the consistent pattern of opposition to them were contradictory elements (Davidson, 1981), constituting a serious blockage in social policy and preventing the people affected from developing options about how to live their lives. Several studies of community-based facility siting issues were undertaken to understand the opposition, and what to do about

⁵ The use of this term is noteworthy because people with disabilities did not previously have freedom of residential choice and therefore it could not be restored.

it. This part of the report summarizes current knowledge on the nature of NIMBY in relation to community-based facilities providing services to people with disabilities.

Some contextual factors influence local responses to proposals to locate care facilities for people with disabilities in neighbourhoods. Dear (1992) argues that "external events" such as unemployment and political currents can affect the level of acceptance of these facilities in a particular place. In these terms anger can be directed at any change in the urban fabric and generate opposition regardless of the actual nature of the particular community facilities proposed. Differences in responses can be expected to vary across space as well as over time: Gerdner & Borell (2004) argue that while NIMBY is a problem globally, its incidence varies as Sweden, for example, exhibits relatively low figures.

People's attitudes were thought to be a major generator of NIMBY and therefore of municipal action, and early studies were based on surveys probing the degree to which people would be accepting of a facility providing residential or other care to people with disabilities in their neighbourhood. A landmark study of services for people with psychiatric disabilities set in Toronto, Not on our street, produced an observation consistent with one noted in the analysis of exclusionary zoning in the previous section: opposition to community-based facilities was often spurred by a small but influential minority (Dear & Taylor, 1982). The study also found that characteristics of survey respondents, such as social status and contact with potential service users, seemed most strongly associated with their feelings about people living with psychiatric disabilities. It was these, Dear and Taylor document, which generated their attitudes to the facilities, rather than the specific nature of the facilities themselves or the characteristics of the neighbourhood.

Attitudinal studies, arguably, suffer a methodological limitation as they ask people about hypothetical sitings rather than about their immediate experiences with community-based facilities providing care for people with disabilities. Tellingly, some studies have found favourable attitudes towards people with psychiatric disabilities (Repper & Brooker, 1996), but this is counter to what many program organizers have found in attempting to site facilities (Cowan, 2003). To compensate for this discrepancy, research strategies were adapted, and several case studies of NIMBY episodes in varied circumstances, and other studies tapping into experiences across cases, have furnished some clearer understanding of the phenomenon.

Two early studies adopting case oriented strategies suggest that actual experience of a community-based facility is significant in shaping attitudes. In interviews with residents near community homes for people living with psychiatric disabilities in Long Island, Arens (1993) found that while opposition formed in early phases of siting processes, it wore off over time. Opinion surveys in suburban Virginia found that respondents living in neighbourhoods where residential services had located were more favourable to them than respondents in neighbourhoods where they had not (Wahl, 1993). Nevertheless, Wenocur & Belcher (1990) report that service providers felt a lack of previous sitings was associated with community acceptance.

While results of studies do not provide a conclusive understanding of NIMBY (Piat, 2000), a number of themes have emerged. Some work has attempted to differentiate the level of resistance in terms of neighbourhood characteristics. The influence of neighbourhood type on responses to proposed community-based facilities for people with disabilities is, however, uncertain: some argue that where class differences in neighbourhood opposition are found it indicates a lack of organization in the lower class areas, and highlights the importance of community development (Wenocur & Belcher, 1990). Others argue that it reflects a lack of political connectedness (Graham & Hogan, 1990).

Takahashi & Dear (1997) note that areas with less residential land use and those with mixed land use tend to foster less resistance to facilities, and that upwardly mobile neighbourhoods tend to oppose them. In addition to the characteristics of the particular community, the broad regional context (mentioned above) would reflect geographic differences in attitudes. Smaller facilities (Gerdner & Borrell, 2004), those built as apartments (Wenocur & Belcher, 1990) and relatively isolated from the local urban fabric (Davidson, 1981) may tend to be more accepted by a community. Beyond these basic contributions, though, the pattern of which areas might be receptive is quite complex, and depends on several factors, possibly including the forms of political representation at the local level (Clingermayer, 1994).

It has been recognized that the needs of different service users have affected the acceptability of different community-based facilities for people with disabilities. In an article showing certain biases of the time, Davidson (1981) anticipated "deviant behaviour" on the part of service users and reported literature arguing that in deteriorating neighbourhoods such behaviour might go unnoticed; and furthermore, residents might not value the neighbourhoods much so they wouldn't take action in a defence against a proposed facility. Cautions about behaviour of people with disabilities persisted in the literature (Takahashi, 1997) reflecting prejudice against them (Bergquist, 2006) and creating a social fear of an unspecified and unconfirmed risk or threat.

While the analysis of neighbourhood opposition to community-based facilities in Delaware by Davidson (1981) found several located in the suburbs (where opposition was expected by the author), these tended to be services for children or for people with physical or mental disabilities. Facilities providing care for people with psychiatric disabilities and substance use issues tended to be located in the inner city. A study in Philadelphia found that community-

based services for people with mental disabilities were not clustered, whereas those for people with psychological disabilities tended to locate in relatively stressed and unstable neighbourhoods (Wong & Stanhope, 2009). The authors point to differences in siting principles between the two types of care facilities that probably underlie the spatial pattern, but also cite potential local concerns about people with disabilities, especially psychiatric disabilities.

Attitudes towards community-based facilities for people living with disabilities have been framed in terms of a "hierarchy of acceptance" (Dear, 1992, p.292) with the most acceptable people being in commonly experienced situations such as illness and old age. Less acceptable, in this hierarchy, are people whose situations are perceived as being of their own making, such as people involved in criminal activity or substance use. People with psychiatric and mental disabilities populate the middle ranges of the hierarchy. Takahashi and Dear (1997) reframe the issue arguing that underlying acceptability are the additional factors of the level of threat that a community may feel when faced with a proposed facility, and their bias towards people perceived as economically unproductive and therefore socially undesirable. These analyses lead to educational and other strategies that can be mobilized to allay a community's misgivings, further developed in Schively (2007).

Summaries of arguments used in NIMBY processes against the development of services for people with psychiatric or mental disabilities are provided by Cowan (2002, 2003), Dear (1992), Oakley (2002), Piat (2000), Stanley et al. (2005), and Wenocur & Belcher (1990). These are listed in Box 1.

It is generally recognized that the arguments are often used without firm basis (Bergquist, 2006) or rely on prejudices (Crawford, 2008b) rather than formal assessments (Schively, 2007). Detailed studies have, thus, probed how these arguments are manifested in NIMBY processes in order to

Box 1. Arguments invoked in NIMBY episodes

- People with disabilities will commit crime or behave antagonistically;
- People with disabilities are vulnerable and crimes will be perpetrated against them;
- The development will attract other undesirables such as drug vendors;
- The proposed location is unsuitable because vulnerable residents will be placed in a dangerous environment;
- The proposed location is unsuitable because children will be exposed to people with disabilities;
- The development will generate traffic and consume parking;
- Community-based services cannot care adequately for the proposed residents;
- The secretive activity of the proponents has undermined the favourable predisposition in the neighbourhood;
- The proponent, through its secrecy, has not made use of local knowledge in selecting the site and has therefore made a poor choice;
- Property values will drop;
- Quality of life will go down;
- The neighbourhood environment will deteriorate;
- The historical character of the area will be lost;
- The neighbourhood is already saturated with services for people with disabilities;
- The neighbourhood already suffers from too much low-cost housing;
- Officials are picking on the neighbourhood as an easy target;
- The proposed facility does not represent sound planning;
- There are insufficient services locally to support the new residents; and
- People with disabilities differ from current residents in terms of race, class and political views.

identify underlying views and values. A study of reactions to a proposed residence for people who are HIV-positive in Pennsylvania found that opposition was rooted in social anxiety about AIDS and sexuality issues across lines of gender and class (Colón & Marston, 1999). In Montréal, Piat (2000) found a basic mismatch between social policies promoting deinstitutionalization and residents' lack of support for them and for integration of people with disabilities, and called for new engagement processes and new strategies for deinstitutionalization and integration.

Critics have used discourse analysis techniques to explore arguments used in NIMBY situations. Cowan (2002, 2003) examined NIMBY processes in relation to a proposed facility for people living with psychiatric disabilities in Scotland. Her

analysis highlighted the rhetorical devices that people used, that is, she focussed on the ways people made their arguments. Participants in the study who were against the development constructed their perspectives about people and events as factual and objective rather than reflections of their values and orientations. They understood that others might think of them as self-serving or prejudiced, anticipated those arguments, and tried to downplay them as adjuncts to other topics, which they portrayed as more important. Cowan pointed out that the arguments used were highly flexible and took shape around the particular context. The arguments referred to moral terms not planning principles and Cowan stresses that the former seem to be more persuasive in NIMBY debates.

Other analyses of NIMBY attitudes argue that surveys have not fully explored interactions among social differences (Wilton 2000) and particularly race (Wilton, 2002). Wilton's studies in California use interviews and other qualitative methods to show that the particular context in which a NIMBY episode unfolds is shaped by local expressions of power relations, and therefore the understanding of disability and the configuration of relations between people with disabilities and people without are both highly localized. In a context of urban and economic change, differences among people that contrast with established groups can become conflated, and concerns about some elements of change become focused on people with disabilities. Therefore, in a location that devalues certain skin colours, disability became racialized in Wilton's studies.

NIMBY has emerged in many settings and different ways in relation to facilities providing community-based services for people with disabilities. As Gleeson summarizes, "Each instance of NIMBY is ... likely to reflect the specific combination of local community fears about the particular client group for whom the facility is intended" (1997, p.210). Its vital importance is that NIMBY, while predominantly grounded in unjustified social fears, has been a major driver of the application of municipal powers in land use regulation in attempts to prevent or restrain the placement of community-based facilities providing services to people with disabilities (APA, 1997; Davidson, 1981; Finkler, 2009; Gleeson, 1997; Oakley, 2002; Roman & Travis, 2006). While recent shifts in metropolitan land markets and other factors may alter the pattern (Zippay & Thompson, 2007), by and large facilities have tended to cluster in the central areas of cities, not only limiting the options available to people with disabilities but also defining their way of life.

Furthermore, evidence exists that NIMBY has caused municipalities to attempt to block developments that conform to requirements (Tighe, 2010). "Zoning barriers replaced physical ob-

stacles" (Finkler, 2009, p.25) as the normalization and integration for people with disabilities promised by deinstitutionalization were poorly materialized.

Application of and limits to municipal powers

It is widely recognized that municipalities have applied their powers in a variety of ways in attempts to control community-based services for people with disabilities. In the USA, studies from the mid and late 1990s report that most cities in that country had shortages of supports for homeless people due to zoning prohibitions (Oakley, 2002). Similarly in Canada many reports exposed the role of municipalities in the lack of housing options for people with disabilities. The House of Commons Special Committee report Obstacles was critical of the barriers imposed by municipalities on community-based facilities for people with disabilities (Special Committee on the Disabled and Handicapped, 1981), and evidence presented to the Kirby Report named restrictive zoning as an impediment to services (Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs Science and Technology, 2006). A toolkit maintained on the Centre for Addictions and Mental Health web site calls for governments to "change zoning laws and reduce licensing fees for group homes to make it easier for individuals from communities with few resources to establish group homes for members of their community" (Supportive Housing and Diversity Group, 2008, p.58).

Municipalities have used different strategies, here grouped as informal mechanisms of control, formal restrictive mechanisms and formal prohibitive mechanisms of control. The strategies are listed in Box 2.

Informal mechanisms to control the development of community-based services for people with disabilities operate outside of legislation, zoning and other regulations but can be effective deterrents. An example is the siting of Casey House, a hospice in Toronto for peo-

ple living with HIV-AIDS. In that case, the local councillor intervened to advise the proponents to locate the facility in an area that would create less opposition than the initial choice. The latter was an upscale district that would make for a convenient location but was described as "a neighbourhood with children" (Chiotti & Joseph, 1995, p.135) and, the argument suggested, for this reason unsuited for a hospice. Other examples of informal mechanisms of control include councillors pressuring developers of community-based services for people with disabilities to hold public meetings when they were not officially required (GHK, 2007). Proponents of projects may acquiesce to such informal pressure in order to access public funding but run risks of disruption of the development process, as indicated below.

In addition to applying informal pressure, municipalities have formally requested proponents of community-based care facilities for people with disabilities to hold public meetings not otherwise required, which is an example of a formal, restrictive mechanism of control. These strategies involve explicit requests to developers of facilities providing services to people with disabilities. Requesting a public meeting can effectively create a focus for NIMBY responses (APA, 1997; Finkler, 2009; Walker & Seasons, 2002) adding to costs and undermining project viability. Municipalities have applied other formal, restrictive mechanisms to limit community-based facilities providing services for people with disabilities. They have made requests that exceed established practices, for example, applying standards for buildings and for safety designed for large institutions, raising costs beyond the budget of developers, and have also required amenities such as sidewalks that are not adopted in the vicinity (Beals, Lalonde and Associates, 2006).

A further formal, restrictive mechanism employed by some municipalities is the control of the level of community-based services

Box 2. Municipal strategies to limit community-based facilities providing care for people with disabilities

Informal mechanisms

- Councillor suggests alternative location
- Councillor pressurizes for public meeting not otherwise required

Formal restrictive mechanisms

- · Request public meeting not otherwise required
- Request extra safety standards
- Request extra amenities
- Control level of services
- Number of facilities
- Number of residents
- Number of occupants per facility
- Require zoning permission to alter service mix
- Separation distances

Formal prohibitive mechanisms

- · Outright ban
- Family definition

in the jurisdiction. In Kitchener for example, the number of facilities was restricted in a particular neighbourhood. Others, such as Smiths Falls, have capped the total number of group home residents: after the closure of the Rideau Regional Centre, that municipality limited the total city-wide group home population at 36 (Finkler, 2009) and the old facility has recently been sold for a retirement community (CBC, 2011). Some other municipalities have set ceilings on the number of occupants for each residential facility, as in Cornwall where the maximum is three per home (Finkler, 2009). They have also required zoning permission when services are changed, reducing the viability of programs and locking providers into current offerings (Johnson et al., 2008). Further, many municipalities have used separation distances to prevent clustering of residential facilities of 100 to 500 meters, measured in different ways (Finkler, 2009). The nature of separation distance requirements is made clear by critics who observed that "no municipality would set up rules to ... ensure no Catholic family lived within 400 meters of other Catholics" (HomeComing Community Choice Coalition, 2005, p. 5).

Formal, prohibitive mechanisms of control are attempts to forestall development. They are illustrated in municipalities banning group homes outright (Tomalty & Cantwell, 2004) or denying permission to develop on the grounds that occupants would not fit the family definition⁶ specified in zoning by-laws (Morin, 1992; Tomalty & Cantwell, 2004). The family definition requirement is a formal, prohibitive mechanism of control widely used by municipalities attempting to limit residential facilities for people with disabilities. Family definitions were introduced to zoning by-laws in the 1960s when, according to Ritzdorf (1985a), suburbs were concerned about different household types and living arrangements as well as deinstitutionalization. Ritzdorf argues that these mechanisms limit options available to many household types, including female-led or elderly households sharing to economize, communal and alternative families, and people living with disabilities in residential care facilities (see also Ritzdorf, 1985b).

In response to the widespread use of these mechanisms of control, since the late 1970s in Canada case law and tribunal decisions have supported the siting of facilities providing services for people with disabilities. The Supreme Court case Bell v. The Queen in 1979 established that requiring occupants of a dwelling unit to be related constitutes 'people zoning: "not regulating the use of the building but who used it" (quoted in Makuch, 1983). In this case a by-law of the Borough of North York defined a family as two or more people related by blood, marriage or adoption; resident Douglas Bell was convicted

by a lower court for living with two people outside of this definition but the Supreme Court agreed with him and overturned that decision.

Dear & Laws (1986) document the process through which group home siting was largely deregulated in Toronto, and argue that this process would be an important precedent throughout Canada. In 1978 the City of Toronto adopted a by-law consistent with Provincial policy that group homes could be sited as-of-right in residential neighbourhoods. The following year Metropolitan Toronto, a regional government embracing six municipalities including the City of Toronto, adopted a similar policy, and in 1981 its official plan, which would force the constituent municipalities also to permit group homes on an as-of-right basis, received approval from the Provincial Minister. The municipalities appealed to the Ontario Municipal Board, and in 1984 the Board ruled in favour of as-of-right siting for group homes in residential areas. There were exceptions: residences for people involved with corrections were constrained to arterial roads, residences for people involved with alcohol use were to be dealt with on an individual bases, and separation distances were permitted.

In the USA the right of municipalities to define families was upheld in court decisions throughout the 1970s (Ritzdorf, 1988) and a different route was taken to exempt group homes from restrictive zoning. The 1964 Civil Rights Act had prohibited discrimination in housing (and other areas) on the basis of race, religion or national origin and the protection was extended to gender in 1974. In 1988 the Fair Housing Amendments Act (FHAA) brought in disabilities, including involvement with substance use. Thus congregate living facilities for people with disabilities had to be considered single family uses in zoning (Foote, 1997) and municipalities had to make "reasonable accommodation" for group living (Bergquist, 2006). The FHAA left open the

⁶ Under a restrictive definition a family might include only people related by blood, marriage or adoption.

"direct threat" provision, which could block a residential facility if necessary to protect the health and safety of local residents. Under the 1990 Americans with Disabilities Act housing for people with disabilities was to be provided in the most integrated setting, further supporting group home arrangements. The provisions were tested at the Supreme Court in the Olmstead decision in 1999: two institutionalized women in Georgia, living with both psychiatric and mental disabilities, won the right to live in a community setting so as to be in the most integrated setting (Perlin, 2000).

Current situation

Despite the support enjoyed from legislation, case law and tribunals, community-based facilities for people with disabilities in Canada and the USA continue to experience resistance and, in cases, be blocked. The American Planning Association laments:

Municipalities and counties throughout the nation continue to use zoning to exclude community residences from the single-family residential districts despite 25 years of planning standards and the vast majority of court decisions that recognize community residences for people with disabilities as a residential use. (APA, 1997, p.1)

Tensions around community-based facilities for people with disabilities continue in the USA (Sullivan, 2007), though a recent survey of cases notes that mechanisms such as distance requirements, stringent requests for fire and safety features, use of the "direct threat" provision of the Fair Housing Amendments Act, and a moratorium on group home developments have all been struck down (Bazelon Center, 2006).

In Canada, exclusion of people with disabilities persists. The Ontario Human Rights Commission (OHRC, 2009) cites cases of the continued use of family definitions and people zoning (the latter in Winnipeg). A study of discriminatory

provisions in municipal by-laws in Ontario first conducted a scan of provisions and then concentrated on the siting of group homes, focussing on Cambridge, Kitchener, Ottawa, Sarnia, Smiths Falls and Toronto. The authors note that group homes are permitted as-of-right in many situations but that there are restrictions. They suggest that definitions of group homes in the Municipal Act highlighting residents' "emotional, mental, social or physical condition or legal status" (GHK, 2007, p.11) may have led municipalities to employ these characteristics in their zoning ordinances, and that this may be people zoning. When seen in connection with other aspects of zoning bylaws such as distancing requirements, the exclusionary nature becomes blatantly obvious:

Should people with mental disabilities not live too closely to people with physical disabilities? (GHK, 2007, p.12)

A follow-up study to the report just discussed visited Kitchener-Waterloo, Ottawa, Smiths Falls, Thunder Bay and Toronto to hold research, education and networking meetings on discriminatory zoning (The Dream Team, 2009). The researchers speak to experience of several discriminatory mechanisms in municipal practices regarding housing for groups protected under the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms as indicated in Box 3.

Most recently, the City of Kitchener attempted to block residential and other facilities for people with disabilities in the Cedar Hill neighbourhood, producing extensive technical planning documentation in support of its claims that the area is saturated and is experiencing decline (Stanley, et al., 2005). It passed prohibitive by-laws in 2005 and the Regional Municipality accepted the plan in 2008, but subsequently the Advocacy Centre for Tenants Ontario challenged the by-laws at the Ontario Municipal Board (OMB). Early in 2010 the OMB ruled on what "was called by the parties an 'unprecedented' case at the nexus between land-use controls and human rights"

Box 3. Discriminatory mechanisms in municipal practices

- Zoning definitions that disadvantage particular groups;
- Caps on the amount of housing;
- By-laws limiting housing in certain neighbourhoods;
- · Moratoria on new building;
- Provisions giving municipal councillors or workers the authority to hold public consultations in excess of requirements;
- Requirements for public consultation for housing permitted as-of-right; and
- Requirements for architectural features that segregate residents from their neighbours such as:
 - Obstructions on views into or out of the residences
 - Barriers that prevent direct access for residents.

(OMB, 2010, p.1) The OMB ruled that the City had to clarify its position including, among other issues, how its by-laws were not people zoning and how poor people and people with disabilities affected by them would be accommodated. By June, 2011 the City had repealed the by-laws.

Municipalities have adopted a number of mechanisms of control in their zoning strategies to exclude facilities for people with disabilities from their territory in both the USA and Canada, in many instances responding to NIMBY pressure. As Morin remarks in the context of community-based services for people with psychiatric disabilities in Québec:

Zoning, having become a tool of segregation towards these marginalized populations, constitutes from then on a sizable obstacle to the implantation of new residential resources. (Morin, 1992, p.48)

Although legislation, case law and tribunal decisions have in multiple cases forced municipalities to withdraw their exclusionary measures, it would appear that many of them continue to zone to the exclusion of people with disabilities. The consequence is to "reproduce the dominant form of social stratification" (Chiotti & Joseph, 1995, p.138) rather than working to undermine social exclusion.

Conclusion

This study has examined literature concerning municipal uses of zoning in the exclusion of particular groups. The first section focused on zoning requiring high standards for housing in designated areas of municipalities, a practice termed exclusionary zoning, and the second on zoning in relation to community-based facilities for people with disabilities.

Investigating these two types of municipal uses of zoning shows pervasive and historical exclusions, beginning with early attempts to constrain groups defined as undesirable due to origin / identity characteristics, and continuing to the contemporary period. It is widely recognized in Canada that exclusionary zoning is commonly practiced though most of the empirical studies of exclusionary zoning originate in the USA. Numerous studies of zoning to exclude residential and other community-based facilities providing services for people with disabilities were found in both Canada and the USA. While the scope of this review has been mainly limited to these two countries, we note that the findings may be more global. As the United Nations Special Rapporteur on adequate housing argues:

Discrimination related to adequate housing may be the result of discriminatory laws, policies, and measures; inadequate zoning regulations; exclusionary policy development; exclusion from housing benefits; denial of tenure security; lack of access to credit; limited participation in decision-making processes related to housing; or lack of protection against discriminatory practices of private actors. (United Nations Human Rights Council, 2009, pp.19-20)

An important motivator for municipalities to use zoning to exclude sections of the community is the NIMBY syndrome, as municipal workers and politicians are concerned about negative reactions by residents to people who are perceived as different from themselves in negative ways. Numerous studies of community-based facilities providing care for people with disabilities suggest that residents' fears are largely groundless, and that negative reactions dissipate over time after a facility is in place, or may not even materialize.

The literature suggests that the courts and legislators in the USA have consistently gone against exclusionary zoning, yet in Canada the differences in race relations and in constitutional rights over the control of land have made exclusionary zoning less visible and less contestable. Courts and legislatures in both countries have

ruled against the use of zoning to exclude facilities for people with disabilities.

Zoning occupies a key position in the interface of social relations and built forms. It operates alongside other elements of urban development such as real estate markets, infrastructure spending and planning to produce urban space that reflects dominant social relations. This accounts for the numerous instances of municipalities employing exclusionary zoning and zoning against facilities for people with disabilities discussed in the report. These uses of munici-

pal powers restrict the ability of people to live in locales that might provide access to employment, services and other amenities they need, and dampen the health and diversity of neighbourhoods. However, municipalities need not act in ways that are complicit with exclusionary social relations, and, as the courts and legislatures have argued, they must not. Municipalities have been urged to use their powers and should do so to promote inclusive social relations in the interests of creating a more cohesive and democratic society.

Sources

- American Planning Association. (1997). *Policy* guide on community residences. Chicago: APA. Downloaded from: www.planning.org/policy/guides/adopted/commres.htm.
- Applebaum, P.S. (1983). The zoning out of the mentally disabled. *Hospital and Community Psychiatry* 34(5), 399-400.
- Arens, D.A. (1993). What do the neighbors think now? Community residences on Long Island, New York. *Community Mental Health Journal* 29(3), 235-245.
- Artibise, Y. (2011). A brief history of urbanism in North America: 1920-1929. Downloaded from: yuriartibise.com/blog/history-urbanism-north-america-19201929/.
- Bazelon Center for Mental Health and Law. (2006). *Digest of cases and other resources on fair housing for people with disabilities*. Washington: The Center.
- Beall, J. (2009). Working together to ensure housing opportunities for people with disabilities and children. Sacramento, California: Assembly Committee on Human Services. Downloaded from: ahum.assembly.ca.gov/sites/ahum.assembly.ca.gov/files/Background%20Briefing%20Paper.Post%20Hearing.021809.pdf.

- Beals, Lalonde and Associates. (2006). *Housing* for adults with intellectual disabilities: Final report. Ottawa: Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation.
- Bergquist, M. (2006). No exit for patients confined at the Vermont State Hospital. *Vermont Bar Journal* 32(2). Downloaded from: www. vtbar.org/Images/Journal/journalarticles/summer%202006/Toc.htm.
- Bogart, W.T. (1993). "What big teeth you have!": Identifying the motivations for exclusionary zoning. *Urban Studies* 30(10), 1669-1681.
- Basolo, V. (2011). Inclusionary housing: The controversy continues. *Town Planning Review* 82(2), i-vi.
- Budson, R.D. (1975). Legal dimensions of the psychiatric halfway house. *Community Mental Health Journal* 11(3), 316-324.
- Cameron, T., & Crewe, K. (2006). Locating children's group homes: The politics of neighbourhood participation. *Planning Practice and Research* 21(3), 323-335.
- Canadian Broadcasting Corporation. (2011). Rideau Regional Centre site sold in Smiths Falls. Downloaded from: www.cbc.ca/news/canada/ottawa/story/2011/07/11/ott-rideauregional-sale612.html.

- Carter, T. & Polevychok, C. (2006). *Understanding disinvestment and decline*. Winnipeg: Canadian Research Chair in Urban Change and Adaptation, University of Winnipeg.
- Chakraborty, A., Knaap, G.-J., Nguyen, D., & Shin, J.H. (2010). The effects of high-density zoning on multifamily housing construction in the suburbs of six US metropolitan areas. *Urban Studies* 47(2), 437-451.
- Chiotti, Q.P., & Joseph, A. (1995). Casey House: Interpreting the location of a Toronto AIDS hospice. *Social Science and Medicine* 41(1), 131-140.
- Clingermayer, J.C. (1994). Electoral representation, zoning politics, and the exclusion of group homes. *Political Research Quarterly* 47(4), 969-984.
- Clingermayer, J.C. (2004). Heresthetics and happenstance: Intentional and unintentional exclusionary impacts of the zoning decision-making process. *Urban Studies* 41(2), 377-388.
- Colón, I.C., & Marston, B.M. (1999). Resistance to a residential AIDS home. *Journal of Homosexuality* 37(3), 134-145.
- Connerly, C. (2006). Fair housing in the US and the UK. *Housing Studies* 21(3), 343-360.
- Conference Board of Canada. (2010). *Building from* the ground up: Enhancing affordable housing in Canada. Ottawa: The Conference Board.
- Cowan, S. (2002). Public arguments for and against the establishment of community mental health facilities: Implications for mental health practice. *Journal of Mental Health* 11(1), 5-15.
- Cowan, S. (2003). NIMBY syndrome and public consultation policy: The implications of a discourse analysis of local responses to the establishment of a community mental health facility. *Health and Social Care in the Community* 11(5), 379-386.

- Cowan, S. (2006). Anti-snob land use laws, suburban exclusion, and housing opportunity. *Journal of Urban Affairs* 28(3), 295-313.
- Crawford, C. (2008a). No place like home: A report on the housing needs of people with intellectual disabilities. Toronto: Canadian Association for Community Living.
- Crawford, C. (2008b). *Employment, education* and intellectual ability: A statistical snapshot. Winnipeg: Public Interest Law Centre.
- Crooks, V.A., & Chouinard, V. (2006). An embodied geography of disablement: Chronically ill women's struggles for enabling places in spaces of health care and daily life. *Health & Place* 12(3), 345-352.
- Danielson, M.N. (1976). The politics of exclusionary zoning in suburbia. *Political Science Quarterly* 91(1), 1-18.
- Davidson, J.L. (1981). Location of community-based treatment centers. *Social Science Review* 55(2), 221-241.
- Dear, M.J. (1992). Understanding and overcoming the NIMBY syndrome. *Journal of the American Planning Association* 58(3), 288-300.
- Dear, M.J., & Laws, G. (1986). Anatomy of a decision: Recent land use zoning appeals and their effect on group home locations in Toronto. *Canadian Journal of Community Mental Health* 5(1), 5-17.
- Dear, M.J., Gaber, S., Takahashi, L., Wilton, R. (1997). Seeing people differently: changing constructs of disability and difference. *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space* 15(4), 455–480.
- Dear, M.J., & Taylor, S.M. (1982). Not on our street: Community attitudes to mental health care. London: Pion.
- Dear, M.J., & Wolch, J. (1987). *Landscapes of despair: From deinstitutionalization to homelessness*. Cambridge: Polity Press.

- Dyble, L.N. (2010). The continuing saga of zoning in America. *Journal of Planning History* 9(2), 140-146.
- Edelman, E.A. (2011). "This area has been declared a prostitution-free zone": Discursive formations of space, the state, and trans "sex worker" bodies. *Journal of Homosexuality* 58(6-7), 848-864.
- Feld, M.M. (1986). Planners guilty on two counts: The City of Yonkers Case. *Journal of the American Planning Association* 52(4), 387-388.
- Finkler, E.L. (2009). Sane-itized space: Understandings of psychiatric impairment / disability at the Ontario Municipal Board. PhD dissertation. Halifax: Dalhousie University.
- Fischel, W.A. 2004. An economic history of zoning and a cure for its exclusionary effects. *Urban Studies* 41(2), 317-340.
- Fischler, R. (1998). Toward a geneology of planning: Zoning and the welfare state. *Planning Perspectives* 13(4), 389-410.
- Foote, J.H. (1997). The Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988 and group homes for the handicapped. *Journal of Local Government Law* 8(1), 7-12.
- Friedman, S. (2011). Bringing proximate neighbors into the study of US residential segregation. *Urban Studies* 49(4), 611-639.
- Gerdner, A., & Borell, K. (2004). Neighborhood reactions toward facilities for residential care. *Journal of Community Practice* 11(4), 59-79.
- Germain, A. & Gagnon, J. E. (2003). Minority places of worship and zoning dilemmas in Montreal. *Planning Theory and Practice*, 4, 295-318.
- GHK. (2007). *The legal basis of NIMBY: Final report.* Toronto: Advocacy Centre for Tenants Ontario.
- Gleeson, B. (1997). Community care and disability: The limits to justice. *Progress in Human Geography* 21(2), 199-224.

- Graham, L., & Hogan, R. (1990). Social class and tactics: Neighborhood opposition to group homes. *The Sociological Quarterly* 31(4), 513-529.
- Gray, R.C. (2009). Guest editor's introduction. Cityscape: A Journal of Policy Development and Research 11(2), 1-6.
- Gunn, A., Carter, T., & Osborne, J. (2009). *The secondary rental market: A literature review and a case study.* Winnipeg: Canadian Research Chair in Urban Change and Adaptation, University of Winnipeg.
- Haar, C.M. (1997). Judges as agents of social change: Can the courts break the affordable housing deadlock in metropolitan areas? *Housing Policy Debate* 8(3), 633-650.
- Harris, R. (2004). *Creeping conformity: How Can-ada became suburban 1900-1960*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Harris, R., & Pratt, G.J. (1993). The meaning of home, homeownership, and public policy. In L.S. Bourne and D.F. Ley (Eds.), *The changing social geography of Canadian cities* (pp.281-297). Montréal and Kingston: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Harvey, D. (1973). *Social justice and the city*. London: Edward Arnold.
- Hayden, D. (1980). What would a non-sexist city be like? Speculations on housing, urban design and human work. *Signs*, *5*(3) Supplement, 167-184.
- Henderson, W., Lawson, K.M., Arnwine, B., Payton, J., & Smith, S. (2008). *The future of fair housing: Report of the National Commission on Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity*. Washington: The Commission. Downloaded from: www.nationalfairhousing.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticke t=w23zLzobpwA%3d&tabid=3917&mid=8614.
- Hodge, G., & Gordon, D.L.A. (2008). *Planning Canadian communities: An introduction to the principles, practices and participants.*Fifth Edition. Toronto: Nelson.

- HomeComing Community Choice Coalition. (2005). Yes in my backyard: A guide for Ontario's supportive housing providers. Toronto: The Coalition. Downloaded from: http://www.new.homecomingcoalition.com/wp-content/uploads/2009/08/YIMBY.pdf.
- Humpage, L. (2007). Models of disability, work and welfare in Australia. *Social Policy and Administration*, 41(3), 215-231.
- Ihlanfeldt, K.R. (2004a). Introduction: Exclusionary land-use regulations. *Urban Studies* 41(2), 255-259.
- Ihlandfeldt, K.R. (2004b). Exclusionary land-use regulations within suburban communities: A review of the evidence and policy prescriptions. *Urban Studies* 41(2), 261-283.
- Johnson, C., Cotton, Q., Linnane, P., Rosen, D., & Tragesser, S. (2008). Issues related to affordable housing for people with behavioral health disorders: Research and views form the community. Milwaukee: Planning Council for Health and Human Services, Inc. Downloaded from: www.planningcouncil.org/PDF/BHD_Housing_Report_2008-02.pdf.
- Joseph, A., & Hall, G.B. (1985). The locational concentration of group homes in Toronto. *Professional Geographer* 37(2), 143-155.
- Krefetz, S. (1979). Low- and moderate-income housing in the suburbs: The Massachusetts "anti-snob zoning" law experience. *Policy Studies Journal* 8(3), 288-299.
- Lamb, C.M., & Wilk, E.M. (2009). Presidents, bureaucracy, and housing discrimination policy: The Fair Housing Acts of 1968 and 1988. *Policy and Politics* 37(1), 127-149.
- Laws, G. (1993). "The land of old age": Society's changing attitudes toward urban built environments for elderly people. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers* 83(4), 672-693.

- Lefebvre, H. (1968). *Le droit à la ville*. Paris: Anthropos.
- Leung, H.-L. (2003). *Land use planning made plain*, (2nd Edition) Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Ley, D.F. (1993). Past elites and present gentry: neighbourhoods of privilege in the inner city. Inn L.S. Bourne and D.F. Ley (Eds.), *The changing social geography of Canadian cities* (pp.214-233). Montréal and Kingston: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Longo, L.F. (2010). A brief history of the initial zoning power in Ontario and its judicial consideration Part Three. *Ontario Planning Journal* 25(6). Downloaded from: http://www2. ontarioplanners.on.ca/members/content/journal/OPjournal.asp?fn=FEATURES&id=1810& nav=section&lang=English.
- Makuch, S.M. (1983). *Canadian municipal and planning law.* Toronto: Carswell.
- Makuch, S.M., Craik, N., & Leisk, S.B. (2004). *Canadian municipal and planning law.* Second edition. Toronto: Thomson Carswell.
- Mandelker, D.R., & Ellis, H.A. (1989). Exclusionary zoning. In W. van Vliet (Ed.), *The Encyclopedia of Housing* (pp. 160-162). Thousand Oaks, London and New Delhi: Sage Publications.
- Marquis, G. (2010). Uneven renaissance: Urban development in Saint John, 1955-1976. *Journal of New Brunswick Studies* 1, 91-112.
- Martin, L., & Ashworth, M. (2010). Deinstitutionalization in Ontario, Canada: Understanding who moved when. *Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities* 7(3), 167-176.
- McCartney, T. & Pratt, S. (2003). The Fair Housing Act: 35 years of evolution. *Tennessee Housing Outlook 6*(1). Downloaded from: www.fairhousing.com/include/media/pdf/35years.pdf.
- Mitchell, K. (2004). Conflicting landscapes of dwelling and democracy in Canada. In S.

- Cairns, (Ed.) *Drifting: Architecture and migrancy* (pp.142-163). Abbingdon and New York: Routledge.
- Moore, P.W. (1982). Zoning and neighbourhood change: The Annex in Toronto, 1900-1970. *The Canadian Geographer* 26(1), 21-36.
- Morin, P. (1992). Être chez soi: Désir des personnes psychiatrisées et defis des intervenants. *Nouvelles Pratiques Sociales* 5(1), 47-61.
- Nelson, A.C., Casey, J.D., & Sanchez, T.W. (2004). Urban containment and residential segregation: A preliminary investigation. *Urban Studies* 41(2), 423-439.
- New York City. (2011). About zoning: Background. New York: New York City Department of City Planning. Downloaded from: http://www. nyc.gov/html/dcp/html/zone/zonehis.shtml.
- Novac, S., Darden, J., Hulchanski, D., and Seguin, A.-M. (2002). *Housing discrimination in Canada: The state of knowledge*. Ottawa: СМНС.
- Oakley, D. (2002). Housing homeless people: Local mobilization of federal resources to fight NIMBYISM. *Journal of Urban Affairs* 24(1), 97-116.
- O'Connell, S. (1988). Impact of Bill C-49 on street prostitution: What's law got to do with it? *Journal of Law and Social Policy 4*, 109-145.
- Ontario Human Rights Commission. (2009). *Policy on human rights and rental housing.* Toronto: The Commission. Downloaded from: www.ohrc.on.ca/en/resources/Policies/housing/pdf.
- Ontario Ministry of Housing. (1991). A housing framework for Ontario: Issues for consultation. Toronto: The Ministry.
- Ontario Ministries of Housing and Municipal Affairs. (1989). Land use planning for housing: A statement of Ontario Government policy issued under the authority of Section 3 of the Planning Act of 1983. Toronto: Publications Ontario.

- Ontario Municipal Board. (2010). *Interim decision delivered by M.C. Denhez and order of the Board*. Toronto: OMB. Downloaded from: https://www.omb.gov.on.ca/e-decisions/plo50611-jan-14-2010.pdf
- Patterson, K.L., & Silverman, R.M. (2011). How local public administrators, nonprofit providers, and elected officials perceive impediments to fair housing in the suburbs: An analysis of Erie County, New York. *Housing Policy Debate* 21(1), 165-188.
- Payne, J.M. (2006). The paradox of progress: Three decades of the Mount Laurel doctrine. *Journal of Urban History* 5(2), 126-147.
- Pendell, R. (2000). Land use regulation and the chain of exclusion. *American Planning Association Journal* 66(2), 125-142.
- Perlin, M.L. (2000). "I ain't gonna work on Maggie's farm no more:" Institutional segregation, community treatment, the ADA, and the promise of *Olmstead v. L.C. T.M. Cooley Law Review 17*(1), 53-90.
- Piat, M. (2000). The NIMBY phenomenon: Community resident's concerns about housing for deinstitutionalized people. *Health and Social Work* 25(2), 127-148.
- Rabin, Y. (1989). Expulsive zoning: The inequitable legacy of Euclid. In C.M. Harr, & J.S. Kayden (Eds.), *Zoning and the American dream: Promises still to keep* (pp.101-121). Washington: American Planning Association Press.
- Raphael, D. (Ed.) (2009). *Social determinants of health: Canadian perspectives*. Toronto: Canadian Scholars' Press.
- Rempel, D. (2007). Review of social science evidence concerning the deinstitutionalization of persons living with mental disability. Winnipeg: Public Interest Law Centre. Downloaded from: www.aclmb.ca/Downloads/Human_Rights/ACL_Brandeis_Brief.pdf

- Repper, J., & Brooker, C. (1996). Public attitudes towards mental health facilities in the community. *Health and Social Care in the Community* 4(5), 290-299.
- Ritzdorf, M. (1985a). Zoning barriers to housing innovation. *Journal of Planning Education* and Research 4(3), 177-184.
- Ritzdorf, M. (1985b). Challenging the exclusionary impact of family definitions in American municipal zoning ordinances. *Journal of Urban Affairs* 7(1), 15-26.
- Ritzdorf, M. (1997). Locked out of paradise: Contemporary exclusionary zoning, the Supreme Court, and African Americans, 1970 to the present. In J.M. Thomas, & M. Ritzdorf, (Eds.), Urban planning and the African American community: In the shadows (pp.43-57). Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Ritzdorf, M. (1988). Not in my neighbourhood: Alternative lifestyles and municipal family definitions. *Lifestyles: Family and Economic Issues* 9(3), 264-276.
- Roman, C.G, & Travis, J. (2006). Where will I sleep tomorrow? Housing, homelessness, and the returning prisoner. *Housing Policy Debate* 17(2), 389-418.
- Ross, J. (2007). *Balancing supportive housing* with civic engagement. Research Paper 208. Toronto: Centre for Urban and Community Studies, University of Toronto.
- Scheutz, J. (2008). Guarding the town walks: Mechanisms and motives for restricting multifamily housing in Massachusetts. *Real Estate Economics* 36(3), 555-586.
- Schively, C. (2007). Understanding the NIMBY and LULU phenomena: reassessing our knowledge base and informing future research. *Journal of Planning Literature* 21(3), 255-266.

- Schwartz, A.F. (2006). *Housing policy in the United States: An introduction*. New York: Routledge.
- Silver, C. (1997). The racial origins of zoning in American cities. In J.M. Thomas, & M. Ritzdorf, (Eds.), *Urban planning and the African American community: In the shadows* (pp.23-42). Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Simmons, H.G. (1982). From asylum to welfare: The evolution of mental retardation policy in Ontario 1831-1980. Downsview: National Institute on Mental Retardation.
- Simmons, H.G. (1990). *Unbalanced: Mental health policy in Ontario 1930-1988*. Toronto: Wall & Thompson.
- Special Committee on the Disabled and Handicapped. (1981). *Obstacles*. Catalogue Number XC 2-321/5-O3E. Ottawa: Ministry of Supply and Services.
- Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs Science and Technology. (2006). Out of the shadows at last: Transforming mental health, mental illness and addiction services in Canada. Ottawa: The Senate.
- Stanley, T.B., Filion, P., & Neeley, N. (2005). Cedar Hill land use and social environment study: An interim control land use planning study prepared for The City of Kitchener. Kitchener: The City of Kitchener. Downloaded from: app. kitchener.ca/cedar_hill_study.htm.
- Statistics Canada. (2011). Table 107-5501, Residential care facilities, by ownership, principal characteristics of predominant group of residents and size of facility, Canada, provinces and territories, annual (number). Downloaded from: www5.statcan.gc.ca/cansim/pick-choisir ?lang=eng&searchTypeByValue=1&id=1075501.
- Sullivan, T. (2007). Group homes still struggle to fit in. *Planning* 73(1), 22-23.

- Supportive Housing and Diversity Group. (2008). Home for all: What supportive housing agencies can do to be anti-oppressive and culturally competent. Toronto: SHAD. Downloaded from: www.nowledgex.camh.net/amhspecialists/guidelines_materials/Documents/home_for_all_toolkit_shad2010.pdf.
- Takahashi, L.M. (1997). The socio-spatial stigmatization of homelessness and HIV/AIDS: Toward an explanation of the NIMBY syndrome. *Social Science and Medicine* 45(6), 903-914.
- Takahashi, L.M., & Dear, M.J. (1997). The changing dynamics of community opposition to human service facilities. *Journal of the American Planning Association* 63(1), 79-93.
- Tewkesbury, R. (2011). Policy implications of sex offender residence restriction laws. *American Journal of Criminology* 10(2), 345-348.
- The Dream Team. (2009.) *The Dream Team goes on the road: A report to the Law Foundation of Ontario.* Toronto: The Law Foundation of Ontario. Accessed at: www.scribd.com/doc/16275767/Road-Show-Final-Report#open_download.
- Tighe, J.R. (2010). Public opinion and affordable housing: A review of the literature. *Journal of Planning Literature* 25(1), 3-17.
- Tomalty, R., & Cantwell, R. (2004). *Municipal land use policy and housing affordability: Halifax Regional Municipality*. Halifax: Halifax Regional Municipality. Downloaded from: halifax.ca/regionalplanning/publications/documents/HousingPolicy.pdf.
- Tse, J.W.L. (1995). Resistance to community-based learning disability facilities: Implications for prevention. *Community Development Journal* 30(1), 83-91.
- United Nations Human Rights Council. (2009). Report of the Special Rapporteur on adequate housing. Document A/HRC/10/7. New York: United Nations. Downloaded from: www.unhcr.org/refworld/pdfid/49a54f4a2.pdf.

- Valverde, M. (2005). Taking 'land use' seriously: Toward an ontology of municipal law. *Law Text Culture* 9(1), 33-59.
- Wahl, O.F. (1993). Community impact of group homes for mentally ill adults. *Community Mental Health Journal* 29(3), 247-259.
- Walker, J.W.St.G. (1997). "Race," rights and the law in the supreme court of Canada: Historical case studies. Waterloo: Wilfrid Laurier University Press.
- Walker, S. (2004). Disability equality training: constructing a collaborative model. *Disability & Society*, 19(7), 703-719.
- Walker, R., & Seasons, M. (2002). Planning supported housing: A new orientation in housing for people with serious mental illness. *Journal of Planning Education and Research* 21, 313-319.
- Weaver, J.C. (1979). The property industry and land use controls: The Vancouver experience 1910-1945. *Plan Canada* 19(3-4), 211-225.
- Wenocur, S., & Belcher, J.R. (1990). Strategies for overcoming barriers to community-based housing for the chronically mentally ill. *Community Mental Health Journal* 26(4), 319-333.
- Wilton, R. (2000). Grounding hierarchies of acceptance: The social construction of disability in NIMBY conflicts. *Urban Geography* 21(7), 586-608.
- Wilton, R. (2002). Colouring special needs: Locating whiteness in NIMBY conflicts. *Social & Cultural Geography* 3(3), 303-321.
- Wolch, J.R. (1979). Residential location and the provision of human services. *Professional Geographer* 31, 271-276.
- Wolch, J.R. (1980). Residential location of the service-dependent poor. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers* 70(3), 330-341.

- Wolpert, E., & Wolpert, J. (1974). From asylum to ghetto. *Antipode* 6, 63-76.
- Wolpert, J., Dear, M.J., & Crawford, R. (1975). Satellite mental health facilities. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers* 65(1), 24-35.
- Wong, Y.-L.I., & Stanhope, V. (2009). Conceptualizing community: A comparison of neighborhood characteristics of supportive housing for persons with psychiatric and developmental disabilities. *Social Science & Medicine 68*(8), 1376-1387.
- Wynne-Edwards, J. (2003). Overcoming community opposition to homelessness sheltering projects under the National Homelessness Initiative. Gatineau: National Homelessness Secretariat. Downloaded from: http://www.homelessness.gc.ca/publications/nimby/workingpapernimby_e.pdf.
- Yinger, J. (1999). Sustaining the Fair Housing Act. Cityscapes: A Journal of Policy Development and Research 4(3), 93-106.
- Zippay, A., & Thompson, A. (2007). Psychiatric housing: Locational patterns and choices. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry* 77(3), 392-401.



309-323 Portage Avenue, Winnipeg, MB R3B 2C1 TEL 204-927-3200 FAX 204-927-3201 EMAIL ccpamb@policyalternatives.ca WEBSITE www.policyalternatives.ca